#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JESSIE JAMES LIVINGSTON,

Appellant,

Section 921.141, Florida Statutes (1985) 36

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JESSIE JAMES LIVINGSTON, JR.,	:		
Appellant,	:		
v.	:	CASE NO.	68 <b>,</b> 323
STATE OF FLORIDA,	:		
Appellee.	:		
	:		

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

#### I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Jessie James Livingston is the appellant in this capital case. The record on appeal consists of 15 volumes, and references to volumes 1-5 will be indicated by the letter "R." References to the remaining volumes will be indicated by the letter "T."

#### II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By way of two informations filed in the Circuit Court for Taylor County on February 21, 1985 and March 13, 1985, the state charged Jessie James Livingston with one count of burglary of a structure, one count of grand theft, one count of grand theft of a pistol, one count of trafficking in stolen merchandise, one count of robbery and two counts of attempted first-degree murder (R 1,2,10). Because Livingston was a juvenile when charged with these crimes, the court ordered that the state try him as an adult (R 750-751).

Subsequently, the state filed a nolle prosoque for the robbery and attempted first-degree murder charges (R 66), and the grand jury filed an indictment for robbery with a firearm, attempted first-degree murder, first-degree murder, and display of a pistol during the course of a robbery (R 30-31). The state then filed a motion to consolidate the indictment and information (R 75) which the court granted (R 79). Livingston and the state each filed several other motions, but they are not relevant to this appeal. Livingston, however, did file a motion to change venue or to dismiss the murder charge (R 147) which the court denied (R 743).

Livingston proceeded to trial before the Honorable Wallace Jopling, and after hearing the evidence, arguments, and the law, the jury found Livingston guilty as charged on all offenses (T 1091-1092).

During the subsequent penalty phase of his trial, Livingston presented mitigating evidence, and after hearing this evidence,

- 2 -

argument, and the law, the jury returned the recommendation of death by a vote of 7 to 5 (T 1179).

Accordingly, the court sentenced Livingston to death. In aggravation, the court found the following factors:

> 1. That at the time of the crime for which he is to be sentenced the defendant had been previously convicted of another capital offense or felony involving the use of, or threat of violence to some person.

> 2. That the crimes for which the defendant is to be sentenced were committed while the defendant was engaged in the commission of, or an attempt to, commit any robbery, involuntary sexual battery, arson, burglary, kidnapping, or aircraft priacy, or the unlawful throwing, placing or discharging of a destructive device or bomb.

> 3. The capital felony was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest or effecting an escape from custody.

(R 798-802).

In mitigation, the court found:

1. The age of the defendant at the time of the crime (17).

2. That the defendant was reared in a home without a father and/or strong disciplinary authority. That his home life was unhappy and disruptive and that he was subjected to unwholesome activity and mistreatment by his mother's boy friends and others.

(R 802-804).

In addition, the court sentenced Livingston as follows for the other crimes for which he was convicted:

> <u>COUNT</u> <u>II</u> Attempted Murder of Willie Mae Evans, that you be sentenced to imprisonment for LIFE to run consecutive to the imposition of the sentence in Count I above [murder in the first degree].

 $\underline{\text{COUNT}}$  III for robbery while armed with a firearm that you be sentenced to LIFE imprisonment to run consecutively to the sentence in Count II above.

<u>COUNT</u> IV for display of a firearm during the commission of a felony you are sentenced to ten (10) years imprisonment to run consecutively to the sentences imposed in Counts II and III above.

#### SENTENCE AS TO CASE 85-32-CF

<u>COUNT</u> I burglary of a dwelling; you are sentenced to ten (10) years imprisonment to run concurrent with sentences imposed in Case 85-56-CF.

<u>COUNT II</u> grand theft in second degree, you are sentenced to five (5) years imprisonment to run concurrent with the sentence in Count I above.

<u>COUNT</u> <u>III</u> grand theft in second degree; you are sentenced to five (5) years imprisonment to run concurrent with the sentence imposed in Counts I and II in Case 85-32-CF.

The recommended guideline sentence was 22-27 years (R 807). In support of its departure from the recommended guideline scoresheet, the court found:

> 1. The Defendant's contemporaneous conviction for a capital felony was not scored on the Guidelines Score Sheet.

> 2. The Defendant utilized excessive force in the commission of the robbery for which he was convicted.

3. The crimes for which the defendant was convicted involved the use of a weapon (a firearm).

4. Threats of death were made against the victim, Millie Mae Evans, a sixty-eight year old woman.

5. The crimes committed by this Defendant showed an utter disregard for human life.

6. The Defendant's recent release from a juvenile detention facility and his failure

to successfully complete alternative treatment programs (Community Control) is grounds for departure.

7. The recommended Guideline sentence is deemed inadequate for rehabilitation or deterrence and/or the Defendant is not amenable to rehabilitation.

8. The pattern of new crimes committed by this Defendant is one of escalating violent criminal activity.

(R 819-820).

This appeal follows.

#### II STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

About noon on February 18, 1985, 17 year old (T 50) Jessie Livingston broke into a residence in Perry, Florida and stole some jewelry, cameras, and a pistol (T 624-628, 815). About 8:00 p.m. that evening, Livingston entered a SuperTest gas station in Perry to rob the clerk (T 787). He told Irene Hill, the clerk, to give him some money, but she bent over behind the counter and Livingston shot her (T 787). He then shot her again. Millie Evans was a friend of Ms. Hill's who helped her occasionally at the store (T 669), and while Livingston was in the front, she was in a little room in the back of the store (T 673). She heard the two shots, and then she heard Livingston say, "Now, I'm going to get the one in the back" (T 674). He shot at Ms. Evans, but she closed the door to the room, and the bullet missed her (T 675).

Livingston took the cash register and left the store (T 787). Unable to open the cash register, he threw it in a dumpster (T 789), and threw the gun underneath an air conditioning vent

- 5 -

of a local club (T 790).

Livingston went to Terry Baker's house which was about two or three blocks from the SuperTest store (T 707). He told Baker (who was an acquantance (T 703)) that he had shot Ms. Hill and needed help opening the cash register (T 708). Not believing Livingston, Baker went to a neighbor's house, and the neighbor said that he had heard an ambulance and police car go by minutes before (T 710). Somebody called the police, and within minutes they arrived at Baker's house (T 756). Livingston was arrested and returned to the SuperTest store where Ms. Evans identified Livingston as her assailant (T 677-678).

The police took Livingston to the police station, and after reading him his Miranda rights (which he waived) (T 785), Livingston gave a detailed confession (T 787-797).<sup>1</sup>

Ms. Hill was flown to the Tallahassee (T 735, 847), where she died six weeks later (T 855). The cause of death was a gunshot wound to the head (T 947).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Livingston also gave a statement to a juvenile case worker with the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services (T 418), but the court excluded that statement because it was not freely and voluntarily given (T 923).

#### IV SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is a capital case in which the trial court granted the state's motion to consolidate a burglary and theft criminal episode with the murder, attempted murder, robbery, and dangerous display of a weapon episode. This was error as the two criminal transactions were not connected in any episodic manner. They also had no temporal, geographic or other significant connections that would have justified consolidation. The only link these two episodes have is that the gun Livingston used in the robbery-murder was stolen during the earlier burglary. (Livingston also was wearing some stolen jewelry when he was arrested).

During trial, the court limited Livingston's ability to cross-examine Terry Baker, a key witness for the state, concerning charges that were then currently pending against him. Livingston should have been able to do this to demonstrate Baker's possible bias in testifying as he did.

The court also erred in allowing an investigator Robertson to testify about Baker's prior consistent statement even though the court had prevented Livingston from challenging Baker's motive to lie or recent fabrication of the trial testimony.

In sentencing Livingston to death, the court found that this murder was committed to avoid lawful arrest. The murder victim, however, was not a policeman, and the state has failed

- 7 -

to carry its heavy burden showing that the dominant reason for committing the murder was to avoid lawful arrest. What Livingston said or did after this murder does not support this aggravating factor.

At the time Livingston committed this murder, he was 17 years old. This mitigating factor when coupled with his disastrous childhood are strong mitigating factors. They are especially strong in light of the fact that the only remaining aggravating factors that the trial court found inhered in the nature of the crime Livingston committed and are not particularly strong.

In addition to the sentence of death, the court departed from the recommended guideline sentence of 17 to 22 years, and it imposed two consecutive life sentences and a consecutive 10 year sentence as well as a concurrent 10 year sentence. The court gave six reasons for justifying this departure. None of these reasons, however, withstand scrutiny.

- 8 -

#### V ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

THE COURT ERRED IN CONSOLIDATING THE INFORMATION CHARGING LIVINGSTON WITH BURGLARY AND GRAND THEFT WITH THE INDICTMENT CHARGING LIVINGSTON WITH MURDER, ATTEMPTED MURDER, ROBBERY, AND DISPLAY OF A FIREARM DURING THE COURSE OF A FELONY, IN VIOLATION OF RULE 3.151, FLORIDA RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE.

About noon on February 18, 1985, Livingston broke into the house of a T. A. Jackson and stole some jewelry, two cameras, and a .38 calibre pistol (T 628-630). Eight hours later and about one mile away (T 11), Livingston used the qun he had stolen from Jackson's home to shoot Ms. Hill (T 820-821). He also wore some of the stolen jewelry when arrested (T 810, 815). Based upon these facts, the court, upon a state motion to consolidate (R 75), ordered the indictment charging Livingston with murder, attempted murder, robbery, and display of a firearm during the course of a felony to be consolidated with the information charging Livingston with committing a burglary, theft of jewelry, theft of a firearm, and trafficking in stolen property (R 79). The court erred as a matter of law as the counts charged in the information and indictment were not based on the same act or transaction, nor were they based on two or more connected acts or transactions.

Rule 3.151, Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

Two or more offenses are related (and thereby eligible to be tried together) if:

- 9 -

1. They are triable in the same court.

2. They are based on the same act or transaction or on two or more connecting acts or transactions.

Rule 3.151(a), Floria Rules of Criminal Procedure

Clarifying this relationship requirement, this Court adopted Judge Smith's dissenting opinion in <u>Paul v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979) in its opinion in <u>Paul</u> v. State, 385 So.2d 1371 (Fla. 1980):

> I conceive that consolidation rule 3.151 and its counterpart, joinder rule 3.150, refer to "connected acts or transactions" in an episodic sense, and that the rules do not warrant joinder or consolidation of criminal charges based on similar but separate episodes, separated in time, which are "connected" only by similar circumstances and the accused's alleged guilt in both or all instances. Contrast Hall v. State, 66 So.2d 863 (Fla. 1953).

In <u>Paul</u>, the first victim was attacked as she left the shower room of a dormitory on the FAMU campus. Almost a month later, two other victims were attacked in the shower areas of two other dormitorys on the FAMU campus. Each attack occurred about 5:00 a.m. on an upper floor of the girl's dormitory, and the threats used and actions taken towards each victim were similar. On review, this Court's quashed the opinion of the First District Court of Appeal which affirmed the trial court's order consolidating the three offenses. These offenses were not sufficiently connected to justify consolidation.

The purpose underlying Rules 3.151 and 3.150 that require

- 10 -

separate trials for unrelated offenses is to assure that the evidence submitted to prove one charge will not be used to dispel doubt on other charges. <u>State v. Williams</u>, 453 So.2d 824 (Fla. 1984). Not only is a person presumed innocent of all charges, but the state must prove a defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt for every offense charged. Some sort of nebulous cumulative or collective guilt will not do. Taylor v. State, 455 So.2d 562 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984).

A key fact in determining whether two or more criminal acts are connected is their relation in time. Paul v. State, 385 So.2d 1371 (Fla. 1980). The closer they are in time the greater the likelihood consolidation is justified. For example, in Green v. State, 408 So.2d 1086 (Fla. 1982) the state charged Green in one indictment with committing a murder and an aggravated assault. Only seconds separated the two crimes. In Rogers v. State, 325 So.2d 48 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975), Rogers committed an armed robbery, and in the course of escaping, he committed a burglary, assaults, kidnappings, and other crimes. In both cases, the courts justified consolidation because the evidence necessary to prove each crime would have been the same if the offenses had been charged separately. Zeigler v. State, 402 So.2d 365 (Fla. 1981). To have proven one offense would have necessarily proven the others as the evidence of one crime was intertwined with the evidence of the others. Dedmon v. State, 400 So.2d 1042 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981).

On the other hand, in cases like <u>Paul</u>, <u>supra</u>, a separation of several hours is fatal to consolidation when discrete crimes are involved. <u>Harris v. State</u>, 414 So.2d 557 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), <u>McMullen v. State</u>, 405 So.2d 479 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981).

Other factors besides time, however, are important. In <u>Bundy</u> <u>v. State</u>, 455 So.2d 330 (Fla. 1984), this Court considered the temporal and geographical association, the nature of the crimes, and the manner in which the crimes were committed. In that case, the crimes were similar in that a person entered the off-campus residence of female FSU students and beat young, white women as they slept. The beatings occurred within blocks and hours of each other. In contrast to the facts in <u>Paul</u>, the crimes in <u>Bundy</u> were episodic because of their close temporal and geographic proximity, and they involved similar methods of operation.

In this case, we have none of the similarities of <u>Paul</u> or <u>Bundy</u> and there is no episodic connection between the residential burglary and the murder.

Crimes charged in this case certainly lack the relationship the crimes in <u>Bundy</u> shared, and they also lack the similarity that the crimes in <u>Paul</u> had. Here, we have a residential burglary and thefts occurring several hours before and a mile away from where the murder, attempted murder, and robbery occurred. These crimes were not part of the same episode, but were completed incidents that were distinctive and separate from the robbery-murder. The crimes not only were of a different nature, they were committed differently.

- 12 -

That is, the burglary was committed while Jackson was away from his home. The robbery-murder, on the other hand, obviously involved a confrontation.

In short, the two incidents are not intertwined so that to have proven the burglary-theft would have necessarily proven or tended to have proven the robbery-murder. <u>Dedmon</u> <u>v. State</u>, 400 So.2d 1042 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). The only link between these crimes was the gun. It was taken from Jackson's house, and it was used in the robbery and killing. Livingston can perceive no relevance that the burglary may have had to the robbery-murder and dangerous display of a weapon incident. It tended to prove no essential element of any of those crimes, Section 90.401, Florida Statutes (1983), nor did it place the robbery transaction in context. <u>Smith v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 704 (Fla. 1978). All it did was show Livingston criminal propensity without advancing the state's case against Livingston. C.f. <u>Styles v. State</u>, 384 So.2d 703 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980).

The court, therefore, erred as a matter of law in joining these two episodes as they were not part of the same transaction as required by Rule 3.151, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. The court's misjoinder, moreover, was not the discretionary type authorized by Rule 3.152, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, and because the trial court erred as a matter of law, and severance was required, prejudice is conclusively presumed and reversal is mandated. Macklin

- 13 -

<u>v. State</u>, 395 So.2d 1219 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981); <u>Puhl v. State</u>, 426 So.2d 1226 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). (The weight of authority in Florida as well as in federal jurisdictions is that the harmless error doctrine is inapplicable to the improper joinder of offenses.)

#### ISSUE II

THE COURT ERRED IN LIMITING THE CROSS-EXAMINATION OF TERRY BAKER, ONE OF THE STATE'S KEY WITNESSES, REGARDING A PENDING CHARGE THE STATE HAD FILED AGAINST HIM.

Terry Baker is the first person Livingston spoke to after the robbery-murder, and Baker claimed that he told him that he had shot Ms. Hill, tried to kill Ms. Evans, and had taken the cash register from the store (T 708). He was also present when Ms. Evans identified Livingston (T 712).

On cross-examination, Livingston attacked Baker's general credibility by bringing out his prior convictions. The court, however, prevented him from developing any specific reason that Baker might have to lie or slant what happened that night (T 715).

BY MR. HUNT:

Q Mr. Baker, have you ever been convicted of a crime?

- A Yeah.
- Q How many times?

A Couple times, like fighting and all type stuff like that.

A You've got a case pending against you at this time, don't you?

- 14 -

MR. BEAN: Your Honor, I'll object to that. That's clearly improper, in the first place.

(T 715).

The court sustained the state's objection, but in doing so, it denied Livingston effective cross-examination of a key witness. <u>Watts v. State</u>, 450 So.2d 265 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984).

It is fundamental to our system of justice that Livingston be able to confront his accusers. <u>Pointer v. Texas</u>, 380 U.S. 400, 13 L.Ed.2d 923, 85 S.Ct. 1065 (1965). Typically, this constitutional guarantee finds expression through the defense cross-examination of witnesses, <u>Davis v. Alaska</u>, 15 U.S. 309, 315, 39 L.Ed.2d 347, 94 S.Ct. 1105 (1974).

This cross-examination can go beyond the facts elicited on direct examination. <u>Brown v. State</u>, 424 So.2d 950 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983). The inquiry can go to show matters tending to show bias or prejudice even though they may not have been mentioned on direct examination. <u>Id</u>. This is especially true in a case like this where witness credibility is a key issue, and it is possible that the state witness may have had a motive to lie. <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 455 So.2d 562 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984).

Here, the court limited Livingston's right to bring out the possibility that Baker may have had a motive to lie because he had a pending charge against him. Impeachment of a witness concerning a fact that he may expect leniency in another criminal action (such as sentencing) if he pleases the state with favorable testimony in this case is permissible impeachment as it exposes the possibility of the witness' bias or motive for testifying other than to tell the truth. <u>Watts v. State</u>, 450 So.2d 265 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984); <u>Garey v.</u> State, 432 So.2d 796 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983).

In this case, the court evidently believed that a witness can be impeached by his criminal record only if that record involved felony convictions (T 716). Arrests or any other pending action cannot be used to impeach a witness.

As a general rule, that is correct. The exception occurs when the witness has some <u>pending</u>, <u>current</u>, criminal action. In that situation, there is a real possibility that the witness may testify to please the state; by doing so, curry its favor for his own benefit. <u>Watts</u>, <u>supra</u>. In such a case, a party may impeach that witness by inquiring about any pending criminal action against him.

Consequently, the trial court unconstitutionally deprived Livingston of his right to effective cross-examination of Baker, and this Court should reverse for a new trial because of that error.

#### ISSUE III

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