IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JESSIE JAMES LIVINGSTON,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. 68,323

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

SID I. WHITE

OCT # 1986

CLERA, SUFMANIA COURT By Doputy Clerk

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR TAYLOR COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

NORMA J. MUNGENAST ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399 1050

(904) 488-0600

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

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

Not unlike Parker, the investigation of appellant's

involvement in the robbery/murder led to his arrest on the burglary charges. The offenses in the case <u>sub judice</u> are related not only because of the jewelry and revolver, but also because the investigations and evidence tending to prove the commission of all the crimes are interwoven. Furthermore, appellant's motive to get money because he was broke indicated the burglary and robbery/murder were one prolonged criminal episode connected in purpose, time, sequence, and geographical area. <u>See Williams v. State</u>, 409 So.2d 253 (Fla.4th DCA 1982). Contrary to appellant's assertions, the State submits the evidence of the two crimes did indeed establish the <u>entire</u> context out of which appellant's criminal conduct arose.

Even if this Court were to conclude the trial judge abused his discretion in consolidating the information and indictment, the State submits a reversal would not be mandated. Improper consolidation or joinder, is not a basis for reversal per se, but rather requires reversal only if it results in a miscarriage of justice or has injuriously affected the substantial rights of the defendant, i.e., it is not harmless error. Taylor v. State, 455 So.2d 562 (Fla.1st DCA 1984), cause dismissed, 459 So.2d 1042 (Fla.1984); Harris, supra. In Taylor, supra the defendant was tried on sexual battery and possession of weapon charges. The defendant had allegedly usedaknife in committing a sexual battery in prison. The knife found outside the defendant's cell, however, was determined not to have been used in the sexual

battery. The district court held that the charges should have been tried separately. While finding it necessary to reverse the sexual battery charge, the court upheld the possession of weapon charge. Citing to Harris, supra and this Court's opinion in Palmes v. State, 397 So. 2d 648 (Fla.) cert.denied, 454 U.S. 882, 102 S.Ct. 369, 70 L.Ed.2d 195 (1981), the court held since the evidence of quilt on the weapon possession charge was overwhelming, there was no purpose in requiring a new trial. Palmes, this Court held a judgment would not be reversed unless error prejudiced the substantial rights of the defendant. inquiry is generally whether, but for the erroneous ruling, it is likely the result would have been different. See also State v. Diguilio, 11 F.L.W. 339 (Fla.July 17, 1986) wherein this Court recently stated that the focus in determining harmless error was the effect the error had on the trier of fact. The question is whether there is a reasonable possibility that the error affected the verdict. Further, Diguilio notes that Section 924.33 of the Florida Statutes provides that the harmless error analysis is applicable to all judgments regardless of the type of error involved and that no errors are presumed to be reversible unless it can be shown that the errors are indeed harmful. In light of appellant's confession to each of these crimes and in light of the eye-witness testimony and physical evidence linking appellant to each of the crimes, the State submits it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that there is no reasonable possibility that the

consolidation affected the verdicts.

ISSUE II (Restated)

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN LIMITING CROSS-EXAMINATION OF TERRY BAKER; EVEN IF IT DID, SUCH ERROR WAS HARMLESS.

Appellant argues in Issue II that the court prevented him from developing a specific reason why Terry Baker might lie or slant his testimony at trial. Terry Baker's testimony on direct examination basically repeated statements made to Officer Robertson and Jimmy Lee Molden minutes after the robbery and murder. (T 702-714) Both Robertson and Jimmy Lee repeated at trial the statements Terry had made to them. (T 727, 776) All of this testimony focused on appellant's admission to Terry immediately after the robbery that he had shot Ms. Hill, attempted to shoot Ms. Evans and had robbed the store. After establishing on cross-examination that Terry had been convicted of crimes, appellant's counsel asked Terry whether he had a case pending against him as of the date of trial. The State objected. At a bench conference appellant's attorney argued he could cross-examine Terry as to any matters that might show bias or prejudice. To establish the relevance of this question, appellant informed the judge that Terry had a case pending against him for grand theft or trafficing and that it might very well be that Terry hoped by testifying favorably for the State that he was going to win some concessions in his own case. State responded by clarifying that Terry had only been arrested,

not formally charged. Moreover, the "charges" were not relevant to show bias in testifying at trial because Terry had given several sworn statements <u>prior</u> to his arrest, and appellant's counsel knew of that fact. Appellant's attorney replied the matter of bias was one for the jury to determine. Based on these arguments the court sustained the objection to the question. (T 715-717).

Appellant essentially argues he had an absolute right to ask the question because it might have established that Terry Baker had a motive to lie because of his pending charges. It is well recognized that the decision as to whether a particular question properly goes to interest, bias or prejudice lies within the discretion of the trial judge. Pandula v. Fonseca, 145 Fla. 395, 199 So. 358, 360 (1940) cited in Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence §608.4 at 317 (2d Ed 1984). "If the relevancy of the questions going to bias are not apparent from the question itself, counsel has a duty to advise the court of the relevancy." Id. Initially, appellant's counsel made a showing of relevancy of the question by informing the court Terry had charges pending against him and that by testifying favorably for the State at trial he may have thought it would help his own case. Had nothing else transpired at the bench conference, appellant arguably would have demonstrated relevancy. His showing of relevancy, however, was refuted when the State clarified that the testimony Terry had given at trial had previously been given by Terry in sworn

statements. These sworn statements were given <u>prior</u> to Terry's arrest at a time when Terry had no motive to lie or slant his testimony in order to win concessions from the prosecutors. The trial court was correct in sustaining the objection because due to these unique facts appellant did not demonstrate how these "pending charges" nevertheless could be probative of bias.

Compare, for example, Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 94 S.Ct. 1105, 39 L.Ed.2d 347 (1974). In Davis, the defense counsel sought to show the existence of possible bias and prejudice of a key prosecution witness. The witness was crucial because he picked out the defendant's picture in a photospread as the person he had seen near the location where a stolen safe was ultimately discovered. At the time of the trial and at the time of the events the witness testified to, the witness was on probation. The defendant wanted to bring this fact to the jury's attention to show that improper motives may have caused the witness to make a faulty initial identification of the defendant, which in turn could have affected his later in-court identification. The case sub judice is distinguishable from Davis for two reasons. Terry's arrest did not affect his testimony at trial because he merely repeated statements he made at a time when he had no motive to please the State. Second, Terry was simply not a key prosecution witness. The prosecutor told the jurors in his closing argument they could completely ignore Terry Baker's testimony in reaching a verdict in each charge. The wealth of

physical evidence against appellant, the confessions given in the presence of Officer Robertson, and Deveda Wagner's and Ms. Evan's identification of appellant as being the person who committed the robbery, murder and attempted murder support the State's position that Terry was not a key witness. Thus, contrary to appellant's assertion, Terry's credibility was absolutely not a key issue in this case. These two significant factual distinctions support the State's contention that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining the question was not relevant or probative of bias. See also, Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. _____, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 89 L.Ed.2d 674, 684 (1986) wherein the Supreme Court held that a violation of the confrontation clause was established only where the defendant showed that a reasonable jury might have received a significantly different impression of the witness credibility had the defendant's counsel been permitted to pursue his proposed line of cross-examination. Under this test, the State contends a violation has not been demonstrated by appellant because if the jury had known Terry gave sworn statements prior to ever being arrested and that his testimony at trial was identical to his sworn statements, they would never have received any different impression of Terry's credibility due to the pending arrest.

Even where a key prosecution witness is involved, this Court has held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in suppressing the fact that the witness faced a pending murder

In Frances v. State, 473 So.2d 672 (Fla.1985), the defendant alleged that the trial court improperly prohibited him from questioning a witness in regards to her pending murder charge which was separate and distinct from the defendant's The defendant argued that the jury should have been given the information so they could decide whether the witness was testifying in such a manner as to gain favor from the State. State argued no deal was ever made with the witness and that the witness was ultimately convicted. Thus, absent a showing of relevance, the evidence was inadmissible. This Court recognized that the defendant did not proffer what answer the witness would give or how her answer would be relevant to prove a material fact other than her bad character or propensity towards violence. Under this circumstance this Court held the trial court did not abuse its discretion to control the scope and manner of crossexamination of the witness. Id. at 674-675. See also Watts v. State, 450 So.2d 265 (Fla.2d DCA 1985), a case relied upon by appellant. In Watts the defendant made a proffer of what two of the state key witnesses would have testified had crossexamination been permitted. The appellate court held the trial court abused it discretion because relevance had been established in the proffer. In the case sub judice no proffer was made of Terry Baker's testimony to establish relevance. In fact, the prosecutor's comments to the judge effectively refuted any implication that the question was probative of bias. Based on

the information before him, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in sustaining the State's objection to appellant's question.

In the event this Court determines the trial court abused his discretion in prohibiting the question, the State submits the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The only instances where error of this type has been considered reversible error is where a witnesses's testimony at trial is crucial to the state's case, thereby making the omission of any evidence relating directly to that witness' credibility prejudicial to the defense. See Alvarez v. State, 467 So.2d 455 (Fla.3d DCA 1985) (conviction which was not based on physical evidence and rested entirely on testimony of accomplice and accessory reversed where the trial court prohibited the defendant from demonstrating that the only witness who could link him to the crime had received a lesser term of imprisonment by agreeing to testify for the state); Russo v. State, 418 So.2d 483 (Fla.2d DCA 1982) (conviction of witness tampering reversed where the court restricted cross-examination of the only witness who could say that the defendant offered to pay him to testify falsely); Kelly v. State, 425 So.2d 81 (Fla.2d DCA 1982) (denial of crossexamination reversible error where the witness's testimony was crucial to State's case inasmuch as this witness was the only one who identified defendant as being at the scene of the crime). On the other hand, error of this type has been held to be harmless

where the jurors had been sufficiently apprised of other evidence elicited on cross-examination enabling them to judge the witness's credibility, Engram v. State, 405 So.2d 428 (Fla.1st DCA 1981) or where the facts indicated the witness had no compelling self-interest or motive to testify so as to please authorities who had some discretion over his status. (Watts, Supra) These latter two cases support the State's contention any error was harmless. The jury had been informed of Terry Baker's previous convictions and his testimony repeated only what he had told law enforcement officers prior to ever being arrested and prior to ever possibly expecting favors from the state.

Pursuant to the United States Supreme Court's decision in Delaware v. Van Arsdall, supra, whether the error in this case is harmless depends on: the importance of the witness' testimony, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of corroborating or contradictory testimony on material points, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and the overall strength of the prosecution's case. Relying on the preceeding statement of case and facts, the State submits under the Supreme Court's Van Arsdall test and under this Court's Diguilio test any error in restricting cross-examination of Terry Baker was harmless error inasmuch as it is clear beyond all reasonable doubt that the error would not have affected the jury's verdicts.

ISSUE III (Restated)

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ABUSE HIS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING OFFICER ROBERTSON TO TESTIFY AS TO WHAT TERRY BAKER TOLD HIM.

The State contends Terry Baker's response to Officer Robertson's inquiry concerning Terry's knowledge that appellant robbed the SuperTest Station was properly admitted through Officer Robertson for two alternative reasons. First, the State submits the statements were admissible for the non-hearsay purpose of explaining how Robertson was able to determine that appellant was the suspect the dispatcher had informed him would be at Terry's house and for explaining why appellant was ultimately placed under arrest. See Johnson v. State, 456 So.2d 529 (Fla.4th DCA 1984) rev. denied, 464 So.2d 555 (Fla.1984), wherein a police officer was permitted at trial to repeat statements made to him which explained why he was at a particular place, his purpose in being there and what he did as a result. The testimony at issue was not offered to prove that, in fact, appellant had murdered Ms. Hill, but was only offered to show why the officers determined appellant should be arrested. testimony only enabled the jurors to hear a logical sequence of Robertson's participation in the investigation of the case. See also United States v. Johnson, 741 F.2d 1338, 1340 n.2 (11th Cir. 1984); Barnes v. State, 477 So.2d 6 (Fla.2d DCA 1985) (testimony about prior consistent statements of defendant's former sisterin-law who observed defendant's suspicious behavior and who told

her neighbor were admissible for the non-hearsay purpose of proving that the statements were in fact made to the neighbor, and as such, they constituted a circumstance relevant to the manner in which offenses became known and prosecuted). In making this argument the State acknowledges it was not raised below, however, cites the familiar rule that an appellate court will not reverse when the trial court reaches the right result for the wrong reason. Cohen v. Mohawk, 137 So.2d 222, 225 (Fla.1962); Grant v. State, 474 So.2d 259, 260 (Fla.1st DCA 1985); Savage v. State, 156 So.2d 566 (Fla.1st DCA 1973), cert.denied, 158 So.2d 518 (Fla.1973).

In the alternative, the State submits this testimony was admissible pursuant to Section 90.810(2)(b) of the Florida Statutes. This section provides:

A statement is not hearsay if the declarant testifies at the trial or hearing and is subject to cross-examination concerning the statement and the statement is. . . (b) consistent with his testimony and is offered to rebut an express or implied charge against him of improper influence, motive, or recent fabrication.

Appellant's entire argument fails to acknowledge the insinuation that was developed on Ms. Evan's cross-examination that Terry Baker had a motive to testify at trial the way he did. Ms. Evan's testimony established that Terry Baker was the last person she saw in the store before Ms. Hill was shot. Appellant's

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